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FILED
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CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
BY s/ dominicf DEPUTY

ONITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

November 2019 Grand Jury

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

V.

GIOVANNTI VINCENZO TILOTT?
akxa “Gio Tilotta”,

WATET YOUSTIF ANTON (5),
aka “Will Anton”,

{31,

Defendants.

grand jury charges:

Case No. 19CR4768-GPC

(Superseding)

Title 18, U.5.C., Sec. 371 -
Conspiracy; Title 18, U.S.C.,
Secs, 222{aY{l) (&), 3%23{(a; and
924 {(a) (1) (D) -~ Engaging in the
Bugsiness of Dealing in Flrearms
Without a License; Title 18,
U.5.C., &ec. 324(a)(l){a) - Faise
Statement in the Acquisition of a
Firearm; Title 18, U.5.C.,

Secs. 922k} (2) and 224 (a} (1) (D)
Conducting Firearms Transaction in
Viclation of State Law; Title 18,

J.8,C., Sec. 2 — Aiding and
Abetting; Title 18, U.S5.C.,
Sec, 1512k} {3} - Attempted

Obstruction of Justice; Title 18,
J.8.C., Sec. 8924(d}, and Title 28,
.8.C,, Bec. 2461 {c) ~ Criminal

Forfsiture

INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

From at least Sseptember
GIOVANNI VINCENZO TILOTTA,

Firsarms Licenses {(MFFLs")

firearms

NWP:nlv:San Diego:4/2/21

aka “Gig Tilotta”,

9, 2015 to the present,

and owned and cperated a federally licensed

dealer commonly known as “Honey Badger Firearms.”

defendant

held one or more Federal
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2. Defendant WAIEL YOUSIF ANTON, aka “Will Anton”, held himself
out as a consultant in various matters concerning state and local
government, including as a consultant assisting persons applyving to the
San Diego County Sheriff’s Department {(VSDCED”) for concealed wesapons
permits, commonly known as permits to carry a concealed weapon (“CCW”),

3. From Cctober 16, 1992 to September 20, 2019, Meorad Marco Garms
was a BDCBED Deputy Sheriff. From January 8, 2016 to February 13, 2019,
Garmo was the captain in charge of the Rancho San Diego Station, a SDCSD
station covering approximately 150 sgquare miles in San Diego County
including Spring Valley, Lemon Grove, Imperizl Beach, and unincorporated
areas of the County. At n¢ time did Garmo possess the FFL that was
reguired to be lawfully engaged in the business of dealing in firearms.

4. Leo Joseph Hamel owned and operated a scries of jewelry stores
and related businesses, commonly known as Leo Hamel Fine Jewelesrs. Hamel
held multiple FFLs since January 1992, including one related to his
business, Leo Hamel Fine Jewelsrs,

5. From approximately October 13, 2001 to December 24, 2019, Frad
Magana was a Deputy Sheriff =t SDCSD. During part of his Tenure at
SDCSD, Magana served as a Lieutenant and reported directly to Garmo.

Relevant Filrearms Laws

6. California Penal Code  Section 32000 prohibited  the
manufacturing, importing, offering for sale, selling, gifting, cr lcan
of any handgun that was not on the roster of handguns determined to be
"not unsafe” within the meaning of California Penal Code Ssction 32015,
More specifically:

a. Pursuant to Califazgia Penal Code Section 3201E, the
California State Department of Justice (“CalbOJ”} maintained a roster
of handguns that could lawfully be scold in the State of California. The

2
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roster was a listing of handguns by manufacturer, model number, and

mocel name that had been tested by a California certified testing
laboratory and determined “not to be unsafe.” The handguns listed on
This roster were the only handguns that could be gcld in the State of
California, subject to certain exceptions.

o, Any handgun not listed on the roster was referred to as
*unsafe,” “non-roster,” or “off roster.”

C. An “off roster” handgun could only be scld to, or
purchased by, certain exempted parties listed in California Penal Code
Section 32000, California Penal Code Section 32000(b) {4) permitted
sworn members of police departments and ofther law enforcement or military
agencies to purchase “off reoster” handguns for use in the perfermance
of their official duties.

d. The California Penal Code did not prohibit an exempted
person, such as a sworn member of a police department, from re-selling
an “off roster” handgun to a non-exempited buyer who was not otherwise
prohibited by the applicable laws and regulations.

7. Califecrnia Penal Code Section 27535 provided that “no person
shall make an application to purchase more than one handgun within any
30-day period,” except for certain parties identified in the statute,
inecluding law enforcement agencies and paid peace officers, Pursuant
to the exception set forth in California Penal Code Section 27535(b) {5y,
peace officers could purchase or apply to purchase more than one handgun
within a 30-day period.

8. California Penal Code Section 26815 generally provided that
no firearm could be delivered within ten days of the application to
purchase {the “ten-day waiting period”). The ten-day waiting periocd did
not apply to the sale, delivery, or transfer of firearms made to a full-

3
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time, paid police officer whose employer had authorized the officer to
carry firearms while in the performance of the officer’s duties.

9. The United States Department of Justice, Bureau of Alcchel,
Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (“ATF”) required all federally-Iicensed
firearms dealers to document firearms sales and purchases to non-
licensees on an ATF Form 4473, a form that was completed by the fedaral
firearms licensee (“FFL”) dealer and the firearm purchaser. The
documentation process included the following regulrements:

a. At the time the purchaser submitted an application to
purchase a Ifirearm, the purchaser was resguired to certify on ATE Form
4473 that he or she was the “actual transferee/buyer” of the firearm.
ATF Form 4473 advised that: “You are not the actual buyer if you are
acquiring the firearm(s) on behalf of ancther person.”

L. At the time the purchaser took possession of the fircarm,
which generally was at the conclusion of the l0-day waiting period in
California, the purchaser was reguired to re-certify on the ATF Form
4473 that all of the assertions previcusly made on the ATF Form 4473

during the initial application were true, correct, and complete.

Unlawful Firearms Acguisitions & Transfers

19, From approximately March 2013 until February 13, 2018, M.
Marco Garmc engaged in the business of dealing in firearms without a
License. Swpecifically, Garmo acquired approximately 144 firearms in
transactions conducted through FiLs and reperted to California’s
Automated Firearms System (“AFS5”). During the sams time period, Garmo
transferred approximately 38 firearms to other people in transactions
conducted through FFLs and reported to AFS5. As set out in further detall

below, Garmo also transferred additional firearms to others (ingluding
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Leo Joseph Hamel), sometimes in exchange for cash, without conducting
lawful transfers through FELs.

33. Garme engaged in the business c¢f dealing in firearms by
devoting time, attenticn, and labor to dealing in firearms as a regqular
course of trade or business with the principal obiective of livelihcod
and profit through the repetitive purchase and resale of firearms. One
aspect of Garmo’s livelihood and profit in dealing in firearms was tc
make money by reselling firearms at favorable prices or exchanging them
for valuable services. Another aspect was Zor Garmo to build good will
with future potential donors or benefactors who could advance his career
or suppert anticipated political campaigns, including Garmo’s expressed
intention to run for San Diego County Sheriff, by obtaining firearms for
them that they could not directly cbtain for themselves.

12, As part of his unlicensed dealing iIin firearms, Garmo
repeatedly purchased firearms, including especially “off roster”
handguns, with the intention to resell them to specific individuals:
transactions commonly known as “straw purchases.” For example, between
December 2014 and May 2018, Garmo falsely certified that he was the
actual buyer or transferee of at least nine (%) firesrms that he had
already agreed to sell to other specific individuals at the time he made
those false certifications.

13. In crder To conceal his extensive and unlawful engagement in
the business of dealing in firearms, Garmo typically conducted the
private party transfer of a given firearm at a different FFL from the
dealer where he had previously acquired the firearm, except for transfers
involving TILOTTA and TILOTTA’s FEL, Honey Badger Firearms.

14. 1In order to conceal and facilitate the straw purchase of off

roster handguns for his close associates, Garmo zrelied in part on

5
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Defendant TILOTTA and TILOTTA's FFL, Honey Badger Firearms. TILOTTA
repeatedly facilitated Garmo’s straw purchase of firearms for Hamel by
knowingly permitting those transactions to be conducted at his FFIL,
accepting and submitting £falsified records as 1if Garmo were the firearms’
true purchaser. cocordingly, Garmo could safely conduct firearms
transfers &t Honey Badger Firearms without concern that TILOTTA would
refuse to process the transactions, because TILOTTA had agreed to assist
Garme with conducting straw transfers.

15. TILOTTA also aided and abetted Garmo’s unlicensed firearms
dealing by prepering early firearms transier records, By preparing
firearms transier records ahead of time, without requirin§ the parties
to the transaction to appear in perscon at his FEL, and instead permitiing
Garmo and selected associates to backdate those records after the fact,
TILOTTA enabled Garmo and cthers to circumvent the ten—day walting period
prescribed by California law for firearms transfers.

16. BAnother part of TILOTTA's arrangement with Garmo and Hamel
involved creating falsified records t¢ make it appear that Garmo was
purchasing firearms on his own behalf, instead of straw purchasing them
for Hamel. On June 27, 2016, for example, Hamel emailed Garmo, “Gio
[TILOTTA]) asks that we do ordered guns [T]his way. You emzil him first
that you want a Sig Legion and a Walther P98cAS. He will then reply ok.
You thern go in to order. You can do right away.” On July 7, 20186,
Garmo in fact purchased a 5ig Sauer Legion P226 9mm handgun bearing
serial number 47A14127¢ from TILOTTA’s FFL, falsely certifying that he
was the actual buyer/transferee of the firearm. Although the firearm
wag never legally transferred from Garmo to Hamel, it was found in

Hamel’s possession on February 13, 20189.
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17. As a collatersal benefit of purchasing firearms from him, Garmo
encouraged his customers to apply for CCWs from SDCSD. For example,
Garmo suggested to an ATE undercover agent that the agent apply for a
CCW., When the undercover agent asked 1f Garmo c¢ould help the agent
avoid the months-long wait for an initial appeintment for a CCW, Garmo
suggested that his friend (Defendant WAIEL YOUSIF ANTON, aka “Will”
ANTON) could help the agent get an earlier appointment in exchange for
a cash payment.

18. ANTON aided and abetted Garmo’s unlicensed firearms dealing
by helping Garmo’s firearms customers apply for CCW permits in exchange
for cash payments. Specifically, ANTON would use connections at the
Eheriff’s Licensing Department to secure appointments months earlier
than those available toc the general public, c¢harging between $1,000 and
$2,000 for this service. As part of this scheme, ANTON unlawfully paid
a clerk at SDC3D's civilian licensing staff $€100 in cash in exchange for
making early CCW appointments for his “consulting” clients. When
negotiating with the ATF undercover agent referred to him by Garmo, from
whom ANTON collected 51,000 for his services, ANTON told the agent that
he would pay a referral fee of $100 per customer for any other CCW
applicants the agent sent to ANTCN. In turn, one of the $100 pbills
which the agent paid ANTON for securing an early CCW appointment was
found in Garmo’s wallet eight (8) days later, representing a kickback
to Garmo of the “consulting” fee earned by ANTON from the CCW applicant
Garmo referred to him.

1%, On February 13, 20138, following a search of his residence by
federal agents, ANTON telephoned the ATF undercover agent and repeatsdly

urged him not to tell federal investigators about the $1,000 that he had
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paid ANTON. ANTCON repeated this instruction in a separate telephone

call on February 14, 2019.

Count 1
Conspiracy
[18 U.s.C. § 371]

20. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 19 akove are
realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

21. Beginning no later than Octcber 21, 2015, and continuing until
at least February 13, 2019, within the Southern District of California,
and elsewhere, defendant GICVANNI VINCENZOC TILOTTA, aka “Gio Tilotta,”
did knowingly conspire, confederate, and agree with Morad Marco Garmo,
Leo Joseph Hamel, and Fred Magana, all charged elsewhere, to commit
offenses against the United States in violatiocn of Title 18, United
States Code, Section 924 (a) (1) (A), to wit: making false statements in
the acquisiticn of a firearm, in vioclation of Title 18, United States
Code, Section 924 (a) (1) (A).

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

22. It was the purpose of the conspiracy for defendant GIOVANNI
VINCENZO TILOTTA, aka “Gio Tilotta,” and Morad Marco Garmo to enrich
themselves and otherwise benefit by TIILOTTA’s selling firearms to Garmo
and Fred Magana that Garmo and Magana intended to transfer to other

individuals, including Leo Joseph Hamel, thereby circumventing the

Califernia state law prohibition on Hamel initially acquiring such

firearms himself, allowing Garmo and Magana to curry favor with the
firearms recipients, such as Hamel, and allowing TILOTTA to profit freom
the sales and by the receipt of other favors from Garmo.
MANNER AND MEANS
23. The manner and means used to accomplish the objectives of
the conspiracy included the following, among others:

8
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a. Defendant GIOVANNI VINCENZO TILOTTA, aka “Gio Tilotta,”
would knowingly and repeatedly process straw purchases for Garmo,
knowing full well that Garmo was cquiring desirable “off-roster”
handguns, not for himself, but for other indivicduals who could not
initially acquire the handguns themselves under Czlifornia state law;

Ir. TILOTTA would knowingly accept falsified paperwork, in
which Garmo falsely declared {under penalty of perjury} that he was the
actual buver of the firearms, when {as TILOTTA well knew! Garmo was
acguiring the fZirearms for others who could not initially acguire them
thenselves;

C. TILOTTA would prepare backdated paperwork for Garmo and
some of his custemers, allowing them to circumvent the California state
law ﬁeguixement to present Themselves in person for identification and
to answer a series of written duestions under penalty of perjury in
order to begin the transfer process and abide by the ten-day waiting
periad;

d. When Garmo was reprimanded by his superiors at SDCSD and
by the San Diego District Attorney’s office for excessive firearms sales
and transfers, TILOTTA would facilitate further straw transfers to Hamel
invelving Garme’s immediate subordinate, Magana, o conceal Garmo’s role
in the sales and transfers:

e, TILCTTA would conduct firearms transfers at locations
prohibited by Califcrnia state law as a convenlence to Garmo and his
customers, Including inside Garmo’s Captain’s Office at the SDCSD Rancho
San Diegoe station;

£. TILOTTA would provide Garmo with preferential esarly
access to deslrable new, off-roster handguns that he and Honey Badger

Firearms received from firearms manufacturers; and

9
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g. In exchange for TILOTTA’s aasistance in processing
unlewful firearms transactions, Garmoc would provide TILOTTA with
valuable services, such as promised assistance with TILOTTA's efforts
to provide products and services to the County, introductions to other
wealthy firearms customers, and assistance with TILOTTA’s own CCW
application and that of his friend.

OVERT ACTS
24. TIn furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect its objects,
the {following overt actz, ameng others, were committed within the
Southern District of Califeornia, on or about the dates below:

a. On or about October 21, 20153, TILOTTA processed a
filrearms transfer In which Garme accuired an off roster Sig Sauer F320
Compact Smm pistcl, bearing serial number 58B024632 from Honey Badger
Firearms, in which Garme falsely certified that Garmo was the actual
buyer/transferee when in truth the handgun was intended for Hamel;

L. On June 27, 201&, in order to creatse falsified records
suggesting that Garmo’s straw purchases of firearms for Hamel were
actually legitimate purchases Garmc was making on Garmc’s own behalf,
Hamel emailled Garmo, “Gio [TILOTTA] asks that we do ordered guns [tlhis
way. You email him first that you want a S5ig Legicnr and a Walther
P98cAS, Ee will then reply ok. You then go in to order. You can do
right away”;

C. Cn July 7, 2016, TILCTTA processed a firearms transfer
in which Garmo acquired an off roster 3ig Sauer Legion FZ22€ Smm handgun
bearing serial number 478141276 from Honey Badger Firearms, in which
Garmo falsely certified that Garmeo waes the actual buyer/transferee when

in truth the handgun was intended for Hamel:

10
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d. Between Qctober &6 and October 8, 20146, TILOTTA collected
personal information from Garmo for San Diege attorney V.B., including
a copy of V.B.’s driver’s license and CCW information, so that TILOTTZ
could begin the transfer paperwork for a firearms transfer TILOTTA and
Garme planned to conduct with V.B. inside Garmo’s office at the Ranchoe
San Diego station; by completing the paperwork early, TILOTTA enabled
V.B., to avoid the 10-day waiting periocd required to acguire a handgun
under Califorrniz law;

=N Retween Qctober 5 and Octeober 16, 2016, Garmo textead
TILOTTA to suggest that TILOTTA bring a sling mount, a foregrip, a sling,
a 8mith & Wesson Shield pistecl, & Red Dot sight, a light and Talon grips
to the October 28, 2016 meeting with V.B. so that TILOTTA could szell
those items to V.B. as well as the firearms Garmo and TILOTTA had already
discussed; |

. On October 28, 2016, TILOTTA and Garmo scld a variety of
firearms and firearm accessories to V.B. inside Garmc’s office at the
SDCED Rancho 8an Diego station, including {1) an off roster Glock 27 .40
caliber pistol bearing serial number RLKZ240 for $71,200; (2) a Dbaniel
Defenge AR-15 style rifle bearing serial number DDM4T07377; and (3) a
Smith & Wesson Shield handgurn bearing serial number HNHE17S5; as described
above, TILOTTA had facilitated the Daniel Defense and Shield
transactions by preparing advance paperwork for V.B.'s firearns
transactions, which was backdated as if the records had first been
executed on UGctober 8, 2016;

g. On April 24, 2017, Honey Badger Firearms processed a
firearms <cransfer in which Magana acguired two off roster Walther
handguns {(a Walther PPS M2 9mm pistel, bearing serizal number ARS980, and
a Walther PPU M2 Smm pistel, bearing serial number PCH4067} from Honey

11
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Badger Firearms, in which Magana falsely certified that Magana was the
actual buyer/transferee of both handguns when in truth both handguns
were intended for Hamel; in fact, Hamel paid TILOTTA for both firearms
and they were never turned over to Magana;

h. On May 3, 2017, TILOTTA processed a firearms transfer in
which Garmc transferred an off roster ©2 75D 9mm pistol (serial
no. C08233) to V.B. which Garmo had acquired in a straw purchase for
V.B. on November 30, 2016 at a different firearms dealer;

i. Cn September 15, 2017, TILOTTA processed a firearms
transfer in which Hamel acquired the two Walther handguns listed above
at paragraph 25.g. that Magana had “acquired” 1in a straw purchase on
April 24, 2017; although the transfer records reflected that Hamel was
acquiring the Walther handguns from Magana, in truth the handguns had
never been turned over to Magana and Hamel was simply “acquiring” them
from TILOTTA and Honey Badger Firearms;

j. Cn September 21, 2017, TILOTTA texted Garmo that “Me and
[Associate 1] are doing our 2nd interview for our cew”; Garmo replied
“Fuk yeah [sic] throw my name down!”; TILOTTA wrote, “Aaaa T don’t do
that. But . . . if yiu [sic] know someone that reviews our files
[1o1]”; Garmo replied “U got it”;

k. On May 16, 2018, Garmo texted an associate then emploved
by San Diego County (Individual 5) reminding Individual 5 to call TILOTTA
and assist TILOITA with his pursuit of & contract to supply bulletproof
vests to SDCSD;

1. On October 8, 2018, TILOTTA emailed Garmo tc alert CGCarmo
that he had received an off roster Sig Sauer P365 handgun in stock,
because Garmo had “said one of [his] people needed one.” TILOTTA asked

Garmo to “[l]et [him] know because we are going to start calling on our

12
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[walt] list.” Garmo replied “Save me one!” and asked TILOTTA to save
another 5lg Sauver P365 for a different 8DCSD officer. TILOTTA alsc
agreed by email to start the transfer paperwork early for Garmo's
acguisition of the Sig Eauer P365; and

m. On or about OCctober 9, 2018, TILOTTA began to process
unilawful early paperwork for the transfer of an off roster 8ig Sauer
P365 handgun to Garmo even though Garmo did not present himself in person
to begin the fransfer or commence the waiting period.

All in violaticn of Title 18, United States Code, Section 37L.
Count 2
Engaging in the Business Of
Dealing in Firearms Without A License
Aiding & Abetting
[18 U.5.C. §§ 922(a) (1) (&) 823(a), 924(a) {1} (D) & 2]

25. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 24 above are
realleged and incarporated by reference as If fully =et forth herein.

26. Beginning no later than October 21, 2015 and centinuing until
at least February 13, 2018, within the Scuthern Disgtrict of California,
and elsewhere, defendants GIOVANNI VINCENZC TILOTTA, aka “Gio Tilotts,”
and WAIEL YOUSIF ANTCON, aka “Will Anton” knowingly alded and abetted
Morad Marco Garme, charged elsewhere, who waszs not licensed as an
importer, manufacturer, or dealer of firearms, and who was willfully
angaged in the business of dealing in firearms.
All in violation of Title 18, United Btates Code, Sections 822(z) (1) (A},
823 (a), 9Z24{ayi{ly (D), and 2.

Count 3
False Statement in the Acquisition of a Firearm
Aiding & Abetting
[18 U.5.C., §5 924(a) {1} {R) & 2]

27. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 2% above ars

realleged and incorporated by reference as 1f fully set forth heresin.

13
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28. ©On or about CTctober 21, 2015, within the Southern Distriect of
California, defendant GIOVANNI VINCENZG TILOTTA, aka “Gic Tileotta,”
aided and abetted Morad Marvrco Garmo and Leo Joseph Hamel, both charged
elsewhere, Iin making and ceusing To be made a false statement and
representation to Honey Badger Firearms in San Diego, California, a
person licensed under The provisions of Title 18, United States Code,
Chapter 44, with respect to informaticon reguired by the provisions of
Chapter 44 of Title 18, United States Code, to be kept in the records
of Honey ZBadger Firearms, 1in that TILOTTA accepted a United States
Department of Justice, Bureazu of Alcochol, TIobacco, Firearms and
Explosives Form 4473 Firearms Transaction Record, stating that Garmo was
the actual buver of z Sig Bauer P3Z0 Compact %mm pistol, bearing serizl
number 58B024632, when, in truth and in fact, as defendant TILOTTA then
well knew, Garmo was not the actual buver of the firearm, in that he was
acguiring the firearm on behalf of Hamel.

A1l in wvioclation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 224(a) {1) (A

and 2.
Count 4
False Statement in the Acquisition of a Firearm
Aiding & Abetting
[18 U.8.C. §§ 924 (a) (1) {A) & 2]

29. The allegations set forth in paragraghs 1 through 28 above are
realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

30. On or absout July 7, 2016, within the Southern Distriet of
California, defendant GICVANNI VINCENZO TILOTTE, aka “Gioc Tilotta,”
aided and abetied Morad Marco Garmo and Leo Joseph Hamel, both charged
elsewhere, 1in making and causing to bs made a false statement and
representation to Honey Badger Firearms in San Diego, California, a

person licensed under the provisions of Title 18, United States Code,

Chapter 44, with respect to information reguired by the provisions of
14
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Chapter 44 of Title 18, United States Code, to be kept in the records
of Honey BRadger Firearms, in that TILOTTA accepted a United Staces
Department of Justice, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and
Fxplosives Form 4473 Firearms Transaction Record, stating that Garme was
the actual buyer of a 8ig Sauer P226 Legion 9mm pistol, bearing serial
number 474141276, when, in truth and in fact, as defendant TILOTTA then
well knew, Garmo was not the actual buyver of the firearm, in that he was
acguiring the firearm on beha!f of Hamel.
All in viclation of Title 18, United States Code, Secticns 924 (a) (1) (A)
and 2.
Count 5
False Statement in the Acqgisition of a Firearm
Aiding & Abetting
[18 U.B.C. §§ 924 (a) (1) (B) & 2]

31. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 30 above are
realleged and Incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

32. On cor about April 24, 2017, within the Southern District of
California, defendant GIOVANNI VINCENZO TILOTTA, aka “Gic Tilotta,”
aided and abetted Fred Magana and Leo Joseph Hamel, both charged
elsewhere, in meking and causing to be made a false statement and
representation to Honey Badger Firearms in San Diege, California, a
person licensed under the provisions of Title 18, United Btates Code,
Chapter 44, with respect tc information reguired by the provisicns of
Chapter 44 of Title 18, United States Cpde, to be kept in the records
cf Honey Badger Firearms, in that TILOTTA accepted a United States
Department of Justice, Bureau of Alcohel, Tobacoe, Firearms and
Explosives Form 4473 Firearms Transacticn Record, stating that Magana

was the actual buyer of a Walther PPS M2 9w pistol, bearing serial

number AR5380, when, in truth and in fact, as defendant TILOTTA then
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well knew, Magana was not the actual buyer of the firearm, in that he
was acguiring the firearm on behalf of Hamel.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 9524 (a) (1) (&)
and 2.

Count &
False Statement in the Acquisiticn of a Firsarm
Aiding & Abetting
[18 U.5.C. §§ 924(a) (1) (A) & 2]

33. 7The allegaticns set forth in paragraphs 1 through 32 above are
realleged and incorperated by reference as 1if fully set forth herein,

34, On or aboult April 24, 2017, within the Southern District of
California, defendant GIOVANNI VINCENZC TILOTTA, aka “Gic Tilotta,”
aided and abetted Fred Magana and Leo Joseph Hamel, both chazrged
elsewhere, in making and causing to be made a false statement and
representation to Honey Badger Firearms in San Diego, California, a
rerson licensed under the provisions of Title 18, United States Code,
Chapter 44, with respect te information required by the provisions of
Chapter 44 of Title 18, United States Code, toc be kept in the records
of Honey Badger Firearms, in that TILOTTA accepted a United States
Department of Justice, Bureaw <f BAlcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and
Expleosives Form 4473 Firearms Transactbion Record, stating that Magana
was the actual buyer of a Walther PPQ MZ 2mm pistel, bearing serial
number FCH4067, when, in truth and in fact, as defsndant TILOTTA then
well knew, Magana was not the actual buyer of the firearm, in that he
was acquiring the firearm on behalf of Hamel.
All in viclation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 824 {a}) {1} {A}

and 2.
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Count 7

Conducting Firearms Transaction in Violation of State Law
Aiding & Abetting
[18 U.8.C. 8§ 822(b) {(2) & 9224(a) (1) (D) & 2]

35. The allegations sst forth in paragraphs 1 through 34 above are
realleged and incorporated by reference as 1f fully set forth herein.

36. On or about October 28, 2016, within the Southern District of
California, defendant GICVANNI VINCENZIC TILOTTA, aka “Gic Tilotta”, a
person licensed under the provisions of Title 18, United States Code,
Chapter 44, did willfully sell, deliver and transfer three firearms, and
did willfuily aid and abet the sale, delivery and transfer of three
firearms, that is, a Daniel Pefense AR-15 style 5.56mm rifle bearing
serial number DDM4107377, a Smith & Wesson Shield 9%mm handgun bearing
serial number HNHGLT75, and & Glock 27 .40 caliber pistol bearing serial
number RLXZ240, to V.B., at the Rancho San Diego Substation of the San
Diege County Sheriff’s Department, a location prohibited by Califcrnia
Penal Code Sectiocon 26805(d).
All in wviclation of Title 1B, United States Code, Secticms 222 (k) {2},
9z4(a) (1) (D), and 2.

Count 8

Attempted Obstruction of Justice
[18 U.8.C. § 1512(b) (3)]

37. The allegaticns set forth in paragraphs 1 through 36 above are
realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

34, OCn or about February 13, 201%, in the Southern District of
California, defendant WAIEL YOUSIF¥ ANTON, aka “Will” ANTON, did
knowingly attempt to corruptly persuade and to bribe an undercover agent
of the Bureau of Alcohel, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives by repeatedly
directing the undercover agent nol te tell federal investigators that

he had paid ANTON 81,000 for his supposed “consulting” services and to
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instead falsely tell investigators that ANTON was helping the undercover
agent because they were friends, and by promising to refund the
undercover agent’s money and continue to provide free services, all with
the intent to hinder, delay and prevent the communication to agents of
the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the Bureau of Alcoh&i,.Tobacco,
Firearms and Explosives of information relating to the commission and
possible commission of a federal offense, specifically aiding and
abetting the unlicensed dealing of firearms, in wviolation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section %22(a) (1) (A}, and federal program bribery,
in viclation of Title 18, United 3tates Code, Section 666.

All in wviolation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512 (k) {3}.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONE

39. The allegations set forth above in Counts 1 through 7 are
rezlleged and inceorporated herein for the purpese of alleging forfeiture
te the United States of America under Title 18, United States Code,
Section 924{d}) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2481 {c),

40. Upon conviction of the one or more of the offenszes set forth
ir Counts 1 through 7 above, and pursuant to Title 18, United States
Code, Section %24{d) and Title 28, Urnited States Code, Sectiocn 2461 (c),
defendants GIOVANNI VINCENZO TILOTTA, aka “Gioc Tilotta,” and WAIEL
YOUSIEF ANTON, aka “Will Antor”, shall forfesit to the United States all
rights, title and interest in all firearms and ammunition involved in
the offenses.
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41. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a
result of any act or omission ¢f the defendants -
a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a

third party:

<. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;
d. has been substantially diminished in value; or
e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be

subdivided without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United 8States, pursuant to Title 28, United
States Code, Secticn 246l1{c), to seek forfeiture of anyv other property
of the defendants up to the wvalue of the property listed above as being
subJject to forfeiture.
All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 924{d), and
Title 28, United States Code, Section 24611(c).

DATED:  April 2, 2021.

LINDAa FRAEKES

Attorney for the United States
Acting Under Authority
Conferred by 28 U.5.C0. § 315

S\

NICHCLAS w. pPILCHAK
ANDREW R. HADEN
Assigtant U.S5. Attorneys
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